## COURT OF APPEALS NO. 73119-0-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHEILA KOHLS,

Appellant,

and

KENNETH B. KAPLAN,

Respondent.

#### **OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

C. Nelson Berry III WSBA No. 8851 Attorney for Appellant

Berry & Beckett, P.L.L.P. 1708 Bellevue Avenue Seattle, Washington 98122 (206) 441-5444



#

### Assignment of Errors.

- 1. The court abused its discretion in calculating Kaplan's income.
- 2. The court abused its discretion by concluding there had been no substantial change of circumstances warranting modification.
- The court erred in finding that "the disparity between
   Kaplan's and Kohls' earnings has remained constant [since] the
   2010 order was entered."
- The court abused its discretion by finding that the 2010
   Order of Child Support did not work a severe economic hardship.
- 5. The court abused its discretion by refusing to address whether support should be set above the maximum advisory level.
- 6. The court abused its discretion by permitting Kaplan a deviation for paying the private school tuition for Idalia.
- 7. The court erred in finding that:

A transfer payment of \$1,352 per month, along with a payment of 100% of the child's private school tuition, provides for the child's needs.

8. The court abused its discretion by refusing to order Kaplan to reimburse Kohls for overpaying her share of healthcare insurance premiums not actually incurred.

- 9. The court abused its discretion by refusing to order Kaplan to reimburse Kohls for unreimbursed health care expenses.
- 10. The court abused its discretion by not adopting the commissioner's ruling regarding Zachary's post-secondary support.
- 11. The court abused its discretion by refusing to rule on Kohls' requests regarding post-secondary support for Zachary and Idalia.
- 12. The court abused its discretion by upholding the court commissioner's CR 11 sanctions against Kohls and her attorney.
- 13. The court abused its discretion by imposing CR 11 sanctions because Kohls' attorney submitted a post-hearing memorandum.
- 14. The court abused its discretion by ordering interest to run on the court commissioner's award of sanctions, but not her award of attorney fees, from the dates of those awards.
- 15. The court abused its discretion by failing to award Kohls her reasonable attorney fees, pursuant to RCW 26.09.140.
- 16. The court erred in "finding that a 25 hour investment of attorney time is reasonable considering the fact that much of the research and briefing had previously been conducted".

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Errors.

1. Did the court abuse its discretion by deducting \$10,397

for depreciation for equipment and furniture, and \$7,999 for insurance, when there was no independent documentation for such expenditures and/or proof that such expenditures reduced Kaplan's personal income? (Assignment of Error 1).

- 2. Did the court abuse its discretion in concluding there had not been a substantial change of circumstances to warrant modification when Kaplan's *net* monthly income increased from \$8,137 in 2010 to \$31,713.72, or more, in 2013, barely two and a half years later? (Assignment of Error 2).
- 3. Does substantial evidence support the court's finding that the disparity between Kaplan's and Kohls' net incomes remained constant between 2010 and 2013? (Assignment of Error 3).
- 4. Did the court abuse its discretion by finding that the 2010 Order of Child Support did not work "a severe economic hardship" on Kohls and Idalia because her 2013 economic situation was contemplated when that Order of Child Support was entered? (Assignment of Error 4).
- 5. Did the court abuse its discretion by failing and/or refusing to rule on issues presented to it? (Assignments of Error 5 and 10).
- 6. Did the court abuse its discretion court by permitting Kaplan

to receive a deviation for paying the private school tuition for Idalia, after denying Kaplan's request to revise the Court Commissioner's ruling to not have such a deviation and requiring him to pay 100% of her educational costs, because it believed it was bound by the 2010 Order of Child Support to give Kaplan such a deviation? (Assignment of Error 6).

- 7. Is the court's finding supported by substantial evidence? (Assignments of Error 3, 7 and 16).
- 8. Did the court abuse its discretion by ruling on this issue when Kaplan did not identify it as a claimed error in his motion for revision, as required by KCLR 7(b)(8)(A)? (Assignments of Error 9, 10, and 11).
- 9. Did the court abuse its discretion by refusing to award Kohls her unreimbursed health care expenses? (Assignments of Error 9).
- 10. Did the court abuse its discretion by upholding the court commissioner's CR 11 sanctions against Kohls and her attorney, after ruling in Kohls' favor on the issue which precipitated those sanctions? (Assignment of Error 11).
- Did the court abuse its discretion by imposing CR 11
   sanctions against Kohls and her attorney where there was no

"finding that either the claim is *not* grounded in fact or law and the attorney, or party failed to make a reasonable inquiry into the law or facts, or the paper was filed for an improper purpose"?

(Assignments of Error 12 and 13).

- 12. Are motions for revision governed by KCLR 7(b)(8), or by KCLR 7(b)(4)? (Assignment of Error 13).
- 13. Did Kohls' attorney violate the court's "admonishment" by responding to statements in the Petitioner's Motion to Strike concerning the amount of Commissioner Jeske's CR 11 sanctions and the reasons she entered them? (Assignments of Error 13).
- 14. Did the court abuse its discretion by failing to award Kohls her reasonable attorney fees based upon (1) the factual and legal questions involved; (2) the time necessary for preparation and presentation of the case; and (3) the amount and character of the property involved, and then appraising these factors in light of the equities ... and the considerations of RCW 26.09.140? (Assignment of Error 15).
- 15. Did the court abuse its discretion by failing to award Kohls her reasonable attorney fees because it believed that the time her attorney spent engaging in legal research and briefing was

"disproportionate" to the time he spent reviewing financial records?

(Assignment of Error 15).

- 16. Did the court abuse its discretion by failing to award Kohls her reasonable attorney fees by disregarding the legal services Kohls' attorney rendered *other* than legal research and briefing, reviewing financial records, and deposition preparation and attendance? (Assignments of Error 15 and 16).
- 17. Did the court abuse its discretion by failing to indicate at least approximately how the court arrived at its award, and explain why discounts were applied? (Assignments of Error 15 and 16).
- 18. Did the court abuse its discretion by failing to compare the hours and rates charged by opposing counsel to determine the reasonableness of Kohls' request? (Assignments of Error 15 and 16).

#### Statement of the Case.

This appeal arises from a proceeding to modify child support. Kenneth Kaplan and Sheila Kohls<sup>1</sup> were divorced on March 22, 2005. CP 14-18. They have two children: Zachary and Idalia. Kaplan was an attorney. Kohls was a stay-at-home mom.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For ease of consideration, the parties shall be identified by their last names. No disrespect is intended.

When the Court entered its Final Order of Child Support,
Kaplan had a gross monthly income of \$29,370. He was ordered to
pay maintenance of \$9,000 per month, which reduced his net
monthly income to \$15,026.13. CP 8, 269.

Kaplan was ordered to make a transfer payment of \$1,534 per month, which deviated *upward* from the standard calculation of \$1,029 per month due to "living standard of family". CP 3. Kaplan was ordered to pay 100% of the children's private school tuition, so long as those funds continued to be provided by his father. CP 5.

**2010 Child Support Modification.** The Order of Child Support was modified in 2010. CP 220-234.

Kohls had returned to work as an elementary school nurse and no longer received maintenance. CP 269. Kaplan had stopped practicing law. His income was derived from his wholly owned Kaplan Real Estate Services, LLC ("KRES"), which invests in and manages apartment buildings. CP 269-270.

In his first Financial Declaration, Kaplan declared that his monthly net income was \$3,079, and that his monthly expenses were \$12,346. CP 69-74.

Using his 2009 income tax return, the King County Family

Support Division calculated Kaplan's gross monthly income to be \$21,875. CP 270.

Shortly before trial, Kaplan declared that he would have a "negative adjusted gross income of just over \$15,000 in 2010", CP 95, 271. He submitted an "updated" Financial Declaration, in which he imputed a gross monthly income to himself of \$4,746, with a monthly net of \$3,633.41, and increased his monthly expenses to \$13,524. CP 88-93.

Based on this conflicting information, the court found that it was appropriate to impute income to Kaplan in the net amount of \$8,137 each month, CP 221:

The court finds that the father is voluntarily un/underemployed for the purpose of avoiding his child support obligation.

It found that Kohls' net monthly income was \$2,444. CP 222.

The court reduced the standard calculation transfer payment to Kohls of \$1,928 per month to \$1,500 because of its order that Kaplan continue "to pay the full school tuition cost for both children (currently attending University Prep in Seattle at an annual cost, per the father, of \$52,000)." CP 223, 271. The court also found that the children's health insurance cost Kaplan \$450 per month, and

reduced his transfer payment to Kohls for her proportionate share of that premium. CP 225, 231, 272.

The Present Proceeding. When Zachary graduated from University Prep, Kohls commenced the present proceeding by filing a Petition for Modification of Child Support *pro se.* CP 209-234. Idalia was a sophomore at University Prep. CP 269.

The children's post-secondary support for college tuition, and room and board, is funded through a trust established by their paternal grandparents, CP 269, but their expenses when they are not attending college during the summer months are not.

In his Response to Kohls' Petition, Kaplan represented that "his income has *decreased* by approximately \$1,024 per month since the last Order of Child Support was entered," CP 248, to a net monthly income of \$7,112.74. CP 250, CP 241.

Following a trial by affidavit, the Honorable Jacqueline Jeske, Family Law Court Commissioner, imputed a *net* income to Kaplan of \$31,713.72 per month. She found that Kohls had a net monthly income of \$2,334.55, but refused to permit her to deduct her pension contributions. CP 1493, 1500.

Both parties moved to revise her final orders. CP 1231-

1262, 1355-1368; 1547-1548.

On revision, the Honorable Sean O'Donnell found that Commissioner Jeske "correctly concluded that Mr. Kaplan's <u>net</u> monthly income was \$31,713.72". CP 1796. He also ruled that Kohls could deduct her pension contributions, which reduced her net monthly income to \$1,812.53. CP 1842.

Yet, in his Order On Revision, he found that there had not been a substantial change of circumstances and that the 2010 Order of Child Support did not create a severe economic hardship which was uncontemplated when that Order was entered.

However, the court ruled that it would treat Kohls' *pro se*Petition for Modification as a motion to adjust, primarily to insure that Idalia would receive "the appropriate amount of support due her given Mr. Kaplan's change of income." CP 1693-1698.

The court then arbitrarily determined which issues on the parties' cross-motions for revision, it would or would not address and concluded by ruling, CP 1702:

Given the Court's finding that this matter is properly considered as an adjustment rather than modification, Ms. Kohl and Mr. Kaplan's respective motions to revise other aspects of the Commissioner's ruling is DENIED. The court then directed Kaplan to prepare the final orders.

CP 1702. Kaplan used that opportunity to include items which had not been identified as errors in his motion for revision, as required by KCLR 7(b)(8)(A), or had been denied at the revision hearing.

Over Kohls' objections, CP 1827-1833, the court entered its Order re Adjustment of Child Support and its Adjusted Order of Child Support on Revision, and included and/or excluded many of these same items Kaplan first raised in his presentation of these orders, CP 1839-1856.

This appeal followed.

Additional facts will be presented as they become relevant to the issues and the argument which follow.

#### Argument.

#### A. Standard of Review

In a modification proceeding, a trial court is required to set forth written findings of fact, which must be supported by substantial evidence and justify the court's conclusion. *State ex rel. Stout v. Stout*, 89 Wash.App. 118, 124, 948 P.2d 851(1997).

A modification of child support is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *McCausland v. McCausland*, 159 Wash.2d 607, 616,

152 P.3d 1013 (2007). A court abuses its discretion if its decision is based on an erroneous view of the law, *In re Marriage of Scanlon and Witrak*, 109 Wn. App. 167, 174-175, 34 P.3d 877 (2001), or rests unreasonable or untenable grounds, *McCausland, supra*.

- B. The Court Abused Its Discretion In Calculating Kaplan's Income.
  - 1. The Court Abused Its Discretion By Permitting Kaplan To Deduct \$10,397 For Depreciation For Undocumented Expenditures For Equipment And Furniture.

In calculating Kaplan's net income, the court abused its discretion by deducting \$10,397 in depreciation for undocumented expenditures for equipment and furniture purportedly made by certain LLCs in which KRES,LLC held an ownership interest, CP 1345-1346, which did not reduce Kaplan's personal income.

In *In re Marriage of Stenshoel*, 72 Wn. App. 800, 806, 86 P.3d 635 (1993), the Court held:

[D]epreciation and depletion expenses should be deducted from gross income only where they reflect an actual reduction in the personal income of the party claiming the deductions, such as where, e.g., he or she actually expends funds to replace worn equipment or purchase new reserves.

RCW 26.19.071(5)(h) requires that :

Justification shall be required for any business expense deduction about which there is disagreement.

In Marriage of Gainey, 89 Wn.App. 269, 274-275, 948 P.2d 865 (1997), reversed on other grounds, In re Marriage of Moody, 137 Wash.2d 979, 93, 976 P.2d 1240 (1999), this Court held:

In general, one asserting a fact has the burden of proving it. Thus, one asserting that his or her income has decreased *must produce properly verified evidence* sufficient to support the desired finding. Similarly, one claiming that he or she has incurred business expenses and unpaid taxes must produce evidence sufficient to support the desired finding.

Documentary evidence is required to verify these expenditures or this depreciation. *In re Marriage of Bucklin*, 70 Wn. App. 837, 841, 855 P.2d 1197(1993). Yet, the only evidence of this depreciation and these expenditures was in a table attached to the declaration of Marianne Pangallo, the CPA for Kaplan and KRES, LLC, which showed that, apart from a "home office" expenditure, these expenditures were made by other LLCs managed and owned in part by KRES, LLC, CP 804, in the context of her contention that Kaplan should be permitted to deduct

principal payments made by these LLCs on their underlying mortgages, CP 798-799, 803---an argument the court correctly rejected. CP 1345. No evidence was presented as to who made the purported "home office" expenditure.

Nor was there even an allegation that these expenditures or this depreciation actually reduced Kaplan's personal income. In particular, there was no evidence that Kaplan used his personal income "to replace worn equipment or purchase new reserves". Since these undocumented expenditures made by KRES, LLC, or the LLCs in which KRES, LLC held an ownership interest, did **not** reduce Kaplan's *personal* income, it was an abuse of discretion to deduct these expenditures from his personal income to calculate his child support obligation. *In re Marriage of Stenshoel*, *supra*.

Disallowing this deduction of \$10,397 for these undocumented expenditures or this depreciation which did not actually reduce Kaplan's personal income, increases his actual net income by an additional \$911.42 per month.

2. The Lower Court Abused Its Discretion By Permitting Kaplan To Deduct Insurance Costs Allegedly Paid By KRESS, LLC.

KRES, LLC deducted \$7,999 for insurance (other than

health) on line 15 of Schedule C of Kaplan's tax return. CP 2030.

According to Ms. Pangallo, this deduction is comprised of \$2,921 in professional liability insurance, \$2,813 in general liability, and \$2,665 for Key Man insurance. CP 795.

Once again, there was **no** independent documentary evidence to verify these expenditures, apart from this reference in Kaplan's tax return. *In re Marriage of Bucklin, supra.* No insurance policies were produced. Nor was there any documentary evidence that Kaplan or KRES, LLC actually ever paid these premiums --- much less, proof that such payments actually reduced Kaplan's personal income, as required by *In re Marriage of Stenshoel*, *supra*.

In the absence of such evidence, this deduction should not have been allowed. *Marriage of Gainey*, *supra*.

In addition, Key Man insurance is not deductible for a single member of an LLC because Kaplan cannot be a direct or indirect beneficiary of such a policy, IRC Code Section 264(a)(1), and he claimed that his children were the beneficiaries. CP 1331.

Likewise, no professional liability policy was ever provided or introduced into evidence. In its 2010 Order of Child Support, the court found, CP 221:

The father reported in a declaration signed on December 3, 2010, that he resigned from the Washington State Bar Association on November 17, 2009 and discontinued his malpractice insurance.

Disallowing these expenditures, which did not actually reduce Kaplan's personal income, increases his actual net income by an additional \$666.58 per month.

In sum, when both the alleged depreciation for undocumented expenditures for furniture and equipment and these purported expenditures for insurance are disallowed, Kaplan's actual net monthly income should be imputed to be \$33,291.72.

C. The Court Abused Its Discretion By Concluding There Had Not Been A Substantial Change of Circumstances.

Contrary to the conclusion of the court commissioner, CP 1207, the court concluded there had been no substantial change of circumstances warranting a modification of support. CP 1693-1698.

Initially, the court concluded there had been no substantial change of circumstances based on its mistaken belief that "Commissioner Jeske found that Kaplan's current *gross* monthly income is \$32,129.72", and finding "the disparity between Kaplan's and Kohls' earnings has remained constant and was predicted to

do so at the time the 2010 order was entered." CP 1698.

Yet, even after the court recognized Commissioner Jeske "correctly concluded that Mr. Kaplan's <u>net</u> monthly income was \$31,713.72", CP 1796, it refused to conclude that this near quadrupling of Kaplan's *net* monthly income in only two and a half years constituted a substantial change of circumstances. CP1796.

This was error and an abuse of discretion.

In *In re Marriage of Scanlon and Witrak*, 109 Wash. App. 167, 173-174, 34 P.3d 877 (2001), this Court held:

...that the mere passage of time and routine changes in incomes do not constitute a substantial change in circumstances. But some changes in incomes are such that they will not have been contemplated by the parties at the time the previous order of child support was entered and thus a change in incomes could constitute a substantial change of circumstances.

Whether a change in circumstances is substantial depends on its effect on a parent's monthly net income. *In re Marriage of Bucklin,* 70 Wn. App. at 840. The quadrupling of Kaplan's net monthly income in a mere two and a half years from \$8,137 in December of 2010 to \$31,713.72, or more, in June of 2013 is not a "routine change in incomes", and certainly was not contemplated

when the Order of Child Support was entered in 2010.

If, as the court found, the disparity between Kaplan's and Kohl's income was "predicted to [remain constant] at the time the 2010 order was entered," it did not do so. Kaplan's net monthly income nearly quadrupled. Kohls net monthly income decreased from \$2,444 in 2010 to \$1,812.53, CP 1842.

It thus constitutes a substantial change of circumstances warranting modification. *Marriage of Scanlon and Witrak*, *supra*.

D. The Court Abused Its Discretion By Finding That The 2010 Order of Child Support Did Not Work A Severe Economic Hardship On Kohls Because Her Economic Situation Was Contemplated At The Time The 2010 Order Was Entered.

In her Petition for Modification, Kohls alleged that an additional reason for modifying support was (CP 212):

The previous order works a severe economic hardship; the Mother receives a reduced transfer payment resulting in insufficient funds to meet the needs of the children.

The court denied Kohls' claim that the 2010 Order of Child Support worked a "severe economic hardship", finding (CP 1696):

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