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

Pangallo opined these expenses should be deducted from the KRES rental 

income because they were actually incurred and reduced Ken's income 

from KRES, unlike depreciation or mortgage interest expense. CP 798-

799,804, 1277-1278, 1331-1333. 

The trial court did not accept Pangallo's evidence entirely. Instead, 

the trial court stated: 

[t]he Court denies ... to alter the depreciation figures and credit as 
to the credit related to loan payments .... However, the Court will 
grant the request as to the depreciation related to equipment and 
furnishings ($10,397). While the evidence is less than specific as 
to this disputed deduction resulting in an out of pocket loss, there 
is sufficient evidence in the record that this smaller amount relates 
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to an actual expenditures (sic) associated with Mr. Kaplan's 
interests in the LLC's. (see Pangallo declaration and Exhibit A). 

CP 1345. Based on this decision, the commissioner added back 

depreciation in the amount of $10,991.89 per month to increase Ken's 

rental income. CP 1345-1346. This figure is $866.42 less than the 

$11,858.31 per month Sheila originally proposed. 

In her written motion for revision, Sheila acknowledged "the 

monthly depreciation expenses of $10,991.89 were properly added back to 

[Ken's] net income." CP 1617; see also CP 1380 (Sheila's illustrative 

chart attached to her proposed order following commissioner's 

reconsideration). Sheila changed her mind by the time of argument on 

revision and now on appeal. See 8/8/14 RP. To the extent Sheila agreed 

$10,991.89 was the correct depreciation expense, she invited any error in 

the calculation. See In re Dependency of K.R., 128 Wn.2d 129, 147, 904 

P.2d 1132 (1995) (counsel cannot set up an error at trial and then complain 

of it on appeal). 

Sheila's remammg argument that the trial court abused its 

discretion by accepting Ms. Pangallo' s declaration as sufficient evidence 

demonstrates a profound misunderstanding of the appellate court's role on 

appeal. See Appellant's brief, p. 13. An appellate court does not reweigh 

the evidence. In re Marriage of Rich, 80 Wn. App. 252, 259, 907 P.2d 
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1234 (1996). Ken did not have to provide receipts or other "documentary 

evidence" in order for the court to accept Ms. Pangallo's declarative 

testimony. The declaration itself, coupled with the tax returns, was 

sufficient. Cf. In re Marriage of Gainey, 83 Wn. App. 269, 948 P.2d 865 

(1997) (husband did not produce any evidence business expenses); 

Bucklin, 70 Wn. App. 837 (husband did not provide income tax returns or 

paystubs). 

Sheila's argument regarding the trial court's insurance deduction is 

similarly flawed. First, again her argument is misleading. Sheila did not 

ask the court to add back $7,999.00 for KRES insurance as shown line 15 

of Schedule C of Ken's 2012 tax return. She only asked the court to add 

back $5,186.00 for key man and professional liability insurance. Compare 

Appellant's brief, p. 14-15 with 11/22/13 RP 9-10 (Berry specifically 

acknowledges $2,183.00 in general liability expense is appropriate), CP 

1075 (illustrative chart at trial); CP 1361 (Sheila's motion for revision); 

CP 1768 (Sheila's proposed order on revision). This would result in an 

increase in Ken's income of $432.17 per month, not the $666.58 per 

month she requests in her brief. Second, like her argument regarding 

depreciation, Sheila asks this Court to reweigh the evidence and reject Ms. 

Pangallo's declaration in favor of Sheila's declaration. This Court should 
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decline to do so. There is substantial evidence to support the trial court's 

decision to impute Ken's income at $31,713.32. 

D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 
BY REFUSING TO SET KEN'S CHILD SUPPORT IN EXCESS OF 
THE STANDARD CALCULATION SOLELY BECAUSE OF KEN'S 
WEALTH. 

When entering an order of child support, the trial court begins by 

setting the basic child support obligation. State ex rel. M.M.G. v. Graham, 

159 Wn.2d 623, 627, 152 P.3d 1005 (2007). Basic child support is 

determined by the economic table in RCW 26.19.020, using the parents' 

combined monthly net income and the number and age of the children. 

RCW 26.19.011(1). When the parents' monthly net income exceeds 

$12,000, the economic table is advisory and the court may exceed the 

presumptive amount of support on written findings of fact. RCW 

26.19.020. In this case, Sheila argues the court abused its discretion by 

"refusing to even address her request" to set Ken's support above the 

advisory level. Appellant's brief, p. 20-21. This argument fails. The trial 

court did not refuse to address Sheila's request, it simply rejected it. 

First, Sheila did not make this request in either her trial brief or in 

her response to Ken's trial brief. CP 268-426, CP 851-975. When she 

raised the issue for the first time during argument at trial, Sheila 

summarily asked the court to "extrapolate" when setting Ken's support 
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because of his wealth. 11/22/13 RP 16. This relief is simply not available. 

In 2007, the Washington Supreme Court stated: 

[i]f the trial court determines the basic child support obligation 
simply by mechanically extending the economic table, the 
resulting award may not have any realistic correlation to the child's 
or children's needs, or the parents' income, resources, or standard 
of living. We conclude, therefore, that the trial court may not use 
extrapolation when it exceeds the economic table in the child 
support schedule. 

In re Marriage of McCausland, 159 Wn.2d 607, 617, 152 P.3d 1013 

(2007). 

Second, Sheila's arguments focus exclusively on the disparity 

between her income and Ken's as the basis for setting support in excess of 

the standard calculation. At trial, Sheila acknowledged Idalia's needs 

were met by the standard calculation, but she simply wanted more. CP 

1361, 1733-17372• On appeal, Sheila cites to this Court's decision in 

Scanlon to support her argument that the "great disparity" between her 

income and Ken's, without anything further, justifies child support in 

excess of the standard calculation. However, in her brief, Sheila omits the 

last critical sentence of this Court's decision in Scanlon. This Court 

stated: 

2 In a supplemental trial memorandum, and two post hearing memorandums on revision, 
all stricken as untimely, Sheila offers the same argument she offers to the superior court 
and this Court on appeal and proposes orders setting Ken's child support obligation at 
$3,149.17 per month. CP 990-993, 999-1012, 1650-1653, 1665-1668. 
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[g]enerally, when an obligor parent is ordered to pay an amount of 
support that exceeds the economic table, that parent enjoys 
substantial wealth in contrast to the obligee parent who lives in 
comparatively modest circumstances. In those cases, it is 
appropriate for a court, in considering the standards of living of 
both parents, to attempt to lessen the disparity between the 
standard of living of the child and the wealthy parent. But it 
contravenes legislative intent to increase the child support 
obligation of an obligor parent of moderate means simply because 
the obligee parent is affluent. 

Scanlon, 109 Wn. App. 179-180 (italics added); Appellant's brief, p. 21. 

Sheila knows that wealth alone is not enough to justify increasing child 

support above the economic table - there has to be some link between the 

additional support and the child's needs. 

In this case, the trial court appropriately exercised its discretion 

and refused to set support above the economic table. Instead, it ordered 

Ken to pay 100% ofldalia's private school tuition. CP 1215, CP 1702, CP 

1843. In the final support order, the trial court stated: 

[a] transfer payment of $1,352 per month, along with a payment of 
100% of the child's private school tuition is sufficient to meet the 
child's needs. 

CP 1843. Although Sheila assigns error to this finding, she has waived the 

assignment by failing to provide any argument or citations to the record in 

support of her assignment. RAP 10.3(a)(5)-(6). Indeed, there is no 

evidence to support such an argument. The first and only time Sheila 
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discusses Idalia's needs is in her response declaration at trial. In that 

declaration, Sheila summarily stated the 2010 child support order 

is cheating our daughter out of the opportunities she would have 
otherwise enjoyed, and can still enjoy, including the opportunity to 
take the guitar and voice lessons she so desires and to participate in 
Ski Bus Trips at her school and attend Summer camps as she once 
did. 

CP 858. However, Sheila provided no information or argument regarding 

the cost of these items or how Ken's increased child support still failed to 

meet these needs. Her arguments primarily centered on Ken's wealth. 

11/22/13 RP 16; 8/8/14 RP 15-17. 

Ultimately, Sheila's child support increased from $750.00 per 

month to $1,352.00 per month (approximately 45%). There is nothing in 

the record to demonstrate this increase is insufficient to meet Idalia's 

needs. The trial court recognized that Idalia lived in a million dollar home 

and went to a great school. 8/8/2014 RP 16. The trial court did not abuse 

its discretion, and this Court cannot "substitute its own judgment for that 

of the trial court where the record shows that the trial court considered all 

relevant factors and the award is not unreasonable under the 

circumstances." Fiorito, 112 Wn. App. at 664. 
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E. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION 
BY CONTINUING TO APPLY THE DOWNWARD DEVIATION 
ADOPTED IN THE 2010 ORDER OF CHILD SUPPORT BECAUSE 
KEN WAS STILL PAYING 100% OF IDALIA'S PRIVATE 
SCHOOL TUITION. 

Sheila next argues the trial court abused its discretion when it 

granted Ken a downward deviation in his support obligation because he 

was paying 100% of Idalia's private school tuition. Sheila argues the trial 

court erroneously applied the "law of the case" doctrine and determined it 

was bound by the 2010 trial court's decision to grant the downward 

deviation. See Appellant's brief, p. 24-25; CP 1843. Without any citation 

to authority, Sheila claims the "law of the case" doctrine only applies to 

appellate rulings enunciating a principal of law. Sheila is incorrect. 

In In re Marriage of Trichak, 72 Wn. App. 21, 22, 863 P.2d 585 

(1993), neither party appealed the decree of dissolution that offset the 

father's child support obligation by the amount of social security benefits 

received by the parties' developmentally disabled child. This Court held 

[ w ]hile continuing jurisdiction in child custody and support matters 
is necessary to ensure that all matters affecting the needs of 
children are addressed, it is not the proper forum for relitigating 
previously decided legal issues that are unrelated to such needs. 

Trichak, 72 Wn. App. at 24. Therefore, the mother was barred from re-

litigating the propriety of the offset because she did not challenge the 1989 

decree when it was entered. Id. 
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The same result is required here. In the 2010 child support order, 

the trial court granted Ken a 22.2% downward deviation because he was 

paying 100% of the children's private school tuition. Sheila did not 

appeal the 2010 child support order. The factual basis for the deviation 

was established in the prior litigation. The factual basis remained the 

same in 2013 when Sheila filed her petition. The trial court did not abuse 

its discretion when it applied the same downward deviation when it 

adjusted Ken's support. See also Trichak, 72 Wn. App. at 23-24 (court 

does not have authority to modify prior court's deviation decision in an 

adjustment proceeding). 

F. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DECLINED TO 
MODIFY PROVISIONS FOR POST-SECONDARY AND HEALTH 
CARE PREMIUMS BECAUSE THIS RELIEF IS NOT 
AVAILABLE IN A MOTION TO ADJUST CHILD SUPPORT. 

The 2005 and 2010 orders for support state: 

the parents shall pay for the post[-]secondary educational support 
of the children. Post[-]secondary support provisions will be 
decided by agreement or by the court. 

CP 5, CP 195. In her petition for modification, Sheila requested "child 

support payments" for Zachary and Idalia for the summer months of June, 

July and August, while they were in college. CP 213-214. Sheila argues 

the trial court abused its discretion by failing to order this "post-

secondary" support for Zachary and Idalia. Appellant's brief, p. 28-30. 
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A trial court's decision regarding post-secondary support lS 

reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Morris, 176 Wn. App. at 905. A 

petition for modification is required to establish post-secondary 

obligations; a parent cannot seek post-secondary support through a child 

support adjustment. Id. at 902; In re Marriage of Sprute, 86 Wn. App. 

342, 349, 344 P.3d 730 (2015). Because the trial court treated Sheila's 

petition for modification as a motion for adjustment, it did not order post-

secondary support. CP 1856. Instead, it appropriately ordered: 

[t]he provisions of the Order of Child Support dated 2/15/05 shall 
remain in full force and effect except as modified by the Agreed 
Order re Post-Secondary Educational Expenses entered on 9/12/14. 

CP 1844. The trial court did not abuse its discretion. 

In Morris, this Court concluded the mother's error m filing a 

motion for adjustment rather than a petition for modification did not 

preclude the court from addressing post-secondary support because the 

father failed to identify how he was prejudiced. Morris, 156 Wn. App. at 

904. Applying this type of harmless error analysis in this case, still does 

not lead to reversal. 

First, the only argument Sheila makes on appeal is that the revision 

court lacked the authority to revise the commissioner's order under RCW 

2.24.050 and KCLCR 7(b)(8)(A) because Ken did not specifically identify 

this part of the commissioner's order as error. Appellant's brief, p. 28-29. 
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Ken sought revision of the commissioner's orders in ''their entirety." CP 

1355. Sheila sought revision of the commissioner's orders regarding post-

secondary support. CP 1232, 1362, 1507. A revision court has full 

jurisdiction over the case and is authorized to determine its own facts 

based on the record that was before the commissioner. Dependency of 

B.S.S., 56 Wn. App. at 171. Sheila placed the issue properly before the 

revision court under KCLCR 7(b)(8)(A) even if Ken somehow did not. 

Second, by the time of entry of the order on adjustment, Sheila and 

Ken had entered an agreed order requiring Ken to pay 100% of all post-

secondary expenses not covered by the trust. Resp. CP _ (Agreed 

Order). The revision court was clearly aware of this when it entered final 

orders. 1/12/15 RP 15-18. Because Ken agreed to be responsible for all 

post-secondary expenses, any error will not prejudice Sheila. Absent 

prejudice, reversal/remand is not necessary. Morris, 176 Wn. App. at 903. 

Sheila also argues the trial court abused its discretion when it 

failed, without any reason, to order Ken to reimburse Sheila for an 

overpayment of health care premiums in the amount of $1,071.94. 

Appellant's brief, p. 25-27. Sheila's argument ignores the record. The 

trial court adopted the commissioner's finding that: 

[t]he mother's claim to recover for her overpayment of the 
premium of the health insurance for the children is denied as it is 
res judicata. 
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order retroactive relief). The trial court also denied Sheila's request for 

reimbursement because it determined the proceeding was properly an 

adjustment and not a modification, specifically noting "other relief may be 

available." CP 1702; 1856. 

Sheila does not argue either reason was erroneous or an abuse of 

discretion. Instead, for the first time on appeal, she argues that 

reimbursement is required based on equitable principals even though no 

statutory authority exists. Appellant's brief, p. 26; Cf. CP 303-304 (trial 

brief), CP 1231, 1362 (motions for revision); CP 1505-1507 (supplemental 

motion for revision). This court should decline to address an argument 

raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5. The trial court did not abuse 

its discretion when it denied Sheila's request without prejudicing her 

ability to seek the same relief in an appropriate proceeding. See Morris, 

176 Wn. App. at 903 (errors in civil cases are rarely grounds for relief 

without a showing of prejudice to the losing party). 

G. SHEILA'S CLAIMED ERROR REGARDING THE 
UNREIMBURSED HEALTH CARE EXPENSES IS MOOT. 

Sheila appeals the trial court's decision declining to order Ken to 

reimburse her for unpaid medical expenses. Appellant's brief, p. 27. 

Following the filing of her opening brief, the parties independently 
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reached a settlement agreement on this issue, and Ken has paid Sheila 

according to the terms of the settlement. The settlement agreement is 

attached as Appendix A. This issue is moot. 

H. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY EXERCISED ITS 
DISCRETION AND A WARDED SHEILA REASONABLE 
ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS OF $43,610.43. 

Finally, we come to the real appellate issue - Sheila's attorney 

fees. Trial courts are granted discretion to require one party to pay the

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